

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability 於百慕達註冊成立之有限公司)



CONTENTS

Corporate Information	2
Introduction	4
Management Discussion and Analysis	7
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management	10
Report of the Directors	14
Corporate Governance Report	26
Independent Auditor's Report	37
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income	42
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position	43
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	44
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows	45
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	46
Glossary	113
Financial Summary	114

Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Situ Shilun (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Zhi Hua (Chairman)
(Retired on 31 July 2020)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lam Lee G.
Mr. Chan Kin
Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny
(Appointed on 16 April 2021)
Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen
(Resigned on 12 April 2021)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Huang Huajuan
(Appointed on 1 February 2021)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung FCPA FCCA
(Resigned on 1 February 2021)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. Lam Lee G. (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Kin
Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny
(Appointed on 16 April 2021)
Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen
(Resigned on 12 April 2021)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny (Chairman) (Appointed on 16 April 2021) Dr. Lam Lee G. Mr. Chan Kin Mr. Zhi Hua (Retired on 31 July 2020)

Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen (Chairman) (Resigned on 12 April 2021)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Kin (Chairman)
(Appointed on 31 July 2020)
Dr. Lam Lee G.
Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny
(Appointed on 16 April 2021)
Mr. Zhi Hua (Chairman)
(Retired on 31 July 2020)
Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen
(Resigned on 12 April 2021)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung Mr. Situ Shilun

LEGAL ADVISERS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS

Paul Hastings
Chungs Lawyers in association with
DeHeng Law Offices

AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited



Corporate Information

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited The Bank of East Asia

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited The Belvedere Building 69 Pitts Bay Road Pembroke HM 08 Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited Level 54 Hopewell Centre 183 Queen's Road East Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House 2 Church Street Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 2101,21/F China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

1682

COMPANY WEBSITE

http://www.hk01682.com

Introduction

The Board is pleased to present the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the "Reporting Period").

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the garment sourcing; and (ii) the provision of financial services.

(I) GARMENT SOURCING

During the Reporting Period, the worldwide COVID-19 outbreak affected the macro economy. The global economic growth had contracted significantly. The Group also faced severe challenge like its peers. As affected by the Sino-US trade disputes, the trading atmosphere had remained tense and the international policy had been highly uncertain. The increasing trade barriers, which coupled with the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and faster-than-expected economic contraction in certain major economies, consumption and investment need decreased, supply chains were disturbed, economic activities were greatly reduced and market confidence was damaged. As a result, the operating performance of retailers was adversely affected, especially for those engaged in the trading of non-daily necessities, such as apparel products. Some retailers even had to shut down their large retail stores and to realise their real assets as they are plunged into liquidity crisis, constituted the continuous weakening of business confidence and the dampening of consumer's sentiments. Facing the unfavorable market conditions resulted from the undesirable business environment, wholesalers are also cautious in placing orders. In addition, online shopping has become more and more popular, the pandemic has fueled the growth of the "stay-at-home" economy, further drove the development of online retail business, customers have significantly higher expectation on speediness, quality and pricing of products and services, which also posed challenges to our business. In Mainland China, the economy first contracted and then rebounded, and demonstrated strong resilience and became the only major economy in the world that achieved positive economic growth in 2020. The market continued to pick up and the total retail sales of consumer goods turned around quarter over quarter. However, the apparel and allied industry, which has yet to catch up with the overall retail recovery, was still struggling. In Hong Kong, the operating atmosphere of the Group deteriorated materially in the midst of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, many companies had to shorten their business hours or even be closed temporarily. In any case, market shoppers were few and shopping sentiment was damp. Even when the situation improved when the pandemic eased in the second half of the year, market conditions could not be restored to their pre-pandemic levels.

As affected by such, part of the Group's business also suffered a serious setback, particularly for the business segment of garment sourcing. Fortunately, the Group was able to adjust sales strategies promptly by adopting the strategy of "lower profit margin, larger sales volume", which successfully mitigated the risks.

As for manufacturing of the garment products business in Mainland China, subsequent to the entering of the Tenancy Agreement and the Transfer Agreement in November 2019, the unexpected outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic had disrupted the market, unexpectedly reduced the demand of garment products. Moreover, the extended quarantine measures and travel restriction measures to control COVID-19 pandemic made it difficult for the management of the Company, which are based in Hong Kong to effectively and efficiently manage the operation of the manufacturing in the PRC. Coupled with the continuous Sino-US trade disputes, there remains a significant degree of uncertainty over the global economic outlook, including the garment industry. Therefore, the manufacturing of the garment products at this stage may not be able to generate a positive operating profit. Accordingly, instead of incurring costs in the manufacturing of the garment products, the Termination and the Disposal will enable the Company to realise its assets and to use the proceeds for development of its principal business activities. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 March 2021.

(II) PROVISION OF FINANCIAL SERVICES

The Group from time to time reviews its existing operations and explores other business opportunities with a view to diversify its business. The Group commenced a new business segment of provision of financial services which includes asset management, finance lease, pawn and money lending business in 2018. Against this backdrop, the Group has been focusing on accelerating its strategic plan in the China and Hong Kong market, further enriching its product offerings and enhancing its financial service system, with an aim to rapidly enhance its business scale and seize the PRC and Hong Kong market. The Group considers that the demand for financial services is significant and the industry is vibrant in both China and Hong Kong. These new business activities will provide a good opportunity for the Group to diversify its revenue stream, which is expected to benefit the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN

According to the latest "World Economic Outlook" issued by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in March 2021, global economic growth is projected at 6% in 2021, moderating to 4.4% in 2022. The projections for 2021 and 2022 are stronger than those as projected in October 2020 and China's economy was predicted to grow at 8.4%. The upward revision reflects additional fiscal support in a few large economies, the anticipated vaccine-powered recovery in the second half of 2021, and continued adaptation of economic activities to subdued mobility. High uncertainty surrounds this outlook, related to the path of the pandemic, the effectiveness of policy support to provide a bridge to vaccine-powered normalization, and the evolution of financial conditions. Regarding Mainland China, where effective preventive measures have successively brought the pandemic under control, the Group is not overly pessimistic about the prospect of the garment souring business in view of the economic growth that has ensued.

Here in Hong Kong, it is expected there will be a growth of 3.5% to 5.5% in the economy in 2021, because the economy will still face significant challenges in the first half of the year as cross-boundary and tourism activities take time to resume to normal. However, as far as people work together to control the epidemic and social stability is maintained, the economic recovery will likely gain a stronger momentum in the second half of the year.

Introduction

Notwithstanding the signing of the "Phase 1" agreement between the world's two largest economies, and the end of the U.S. Election, it might be too soon to declare an all-clear on the impact of political front. The Sino-United States conflicts go beyond trade and will remain even after the signing of the "Phase 1" agreement and in the "Phase 2" negotiations. Regarding impacts of the pandemic on supply chain, the Group understands that the production activities of our suppliers are not severely impacted by the pandemic and the recovery is beyond expectation, and therefore, we are not expecting a delay in supply chain.

The Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership which covers one-third of the aggregated value of the global economy has been signed and it is generally believed that the Partnership will be beneficial to the global economy. However, the situation of COVID-19 around the world is still relatively unstable. The Group is cautious about the outlook of its business in 2021. At present, the Group is closely monitoring the market conditions and assessing the operational and financial impacts of the pandemic to the Group. Looking forward, global monetary policy easing should tend to incentivise investment, production and consumption and it is expected that the roll-out and the full use of effective COVID-19 vaccines will gradually control the pandemic. Subsequent to the termination of tenancy agreement and disposal of assets in PRC, the Group returns back to light assets business model which enables the Group to demonstrate operational resilience in an uncertain market environment and cautiously deal with the "New Normal" of the COVID-19 pandemic, to strictly control the quality of supply chain to ensure its excellent product quality is consistently maintained, to meet the consumers' expectations as well as to adhere to the customer-orientation principle. In light of the unprecedented economic and business challenges, this business model has reduced both inventory pressure and operating costs so as to improve the Group's competitive advantage. The Group will endeavor to raise the level of operations for our two principal businesses and will endeavor to search for new business opportunities and expand profit channels with the goal to strive for greater returns for the Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express the sincere thanks and gratitude to our management team and employees for their commitments, hard work and loyalty to the Group during the Reporting Period. The Board would also like to extend the deepest thanks to our customers, bankers, business partners and Shareholders for their continual support.

Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately HK\$120,057,000 (2020: approximately HK\$122,097,000): revenue from the garment sourcing amounted to approximately HK\$116,938,000, representing a decrease of approximately 1.91% (2020: approximately HK\$119,216,000); revenue from provision of financial services amounted to approximately HK\$3,119,000, representing an increase of approximately 8.26% (2020: approximately HK\$2,881,000), mainly due to expansion of loan business. Gross profit margin was approximately 4.42%, representing an increase of approximately 0.52% (2020: approximately 3.90%). Other income amounted to approximately HK\$2,860,000 (2020: approximately HK\$4,945,000), which was mainly attributable to the gain on disposal of plant and equipment and interest income from financial assets at FVTPL. Exchange difference, net amounted to approximately HK\$261,000 (2020: approximately HK\$3,493,000), mainly due to the fluctuation of RMB exchange rate during the Reporting Period. Selling and distribution costs nil (2020: approximately HK\$965,000), mainly due to the decrease of advertising and promotion costs. Administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK\$11,998,000, representing a decrease of approximately 51.98% (2020: approximately HK\$24,985,000), mainly due to stringent control on administrative costs of the Group and no costs for collecting trade receivable. Reversal of expected credit loss amounted to approximately HK\$3,164,000 (2020: allowance for expected credit loss of approximately HK\$4,118,000), which was mainly attributable to the reversal of impairment loss recognised from former subsidiaries. Due to the aforesaid reasons, the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK\$3,960,000 (2020: approximately HK\$24,002,000).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of approximately HK\$126,662,000 (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK\$111,736,000) (including cash and cash equivalent of approximately HK\$15,243,000 (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK\$21,736,000)) which were financed by current liabilities of approximately HK\$18,397,000 (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK\$16,842,000), nil non-current liabilities (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK\$239,000) and Shareholders' equity of approximately HK\$108,265,000 (as at 31 March 2020: approximately HK\$94,655,000).

The Group generally services its debts primarily through cash generated from its operations. As at 31 March 2021, the liquidity ratio, represented by a ratio between current assets over current liabilities, was 3.76:1 (as at 31 March 2020:4.91:1). The gearing ratio of the Group, based on total debts (including lease liabilities) over total equity, was 0.10% (as at 31 March 2020:0.94%), which was at a healthy level. The Group also approaches other investors, especially strategic investors to invest in the Company, hoping to bring in more funds. Therefore, the directors of the Company believe that the Group has sufficient fund for developing existing business.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no bank or other borrowings.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a prudent financial management strategy in implementing the treasury policy. Thus, a sound liquidity position was able to be maintained throughout the year ended 31 March 2021. The Group continues to assess its customers' credit and financial positions so as to minimise the credit risks. In order to control the liquidity risks, the Board would closely monitor the liquidity position of the Group to ensure its assets, liabilities and other flow structure committed by the Group would satisfy the funding needs from time to time.

Management Discussion and Analysis

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's working capital is mainly financed through internal generated cash flows. The management of the Group regularly monitors the funding requirements of the Group to support its normal operations and its development plans. Most of the Group's cash balances were deposits in US\$, HK\$ and RMB with major global financial institutions and most of the Group's monetary assets, revenues, monetary liabilities and payments were held in US\$, HK\$ and RMB.

Foreign exchange risks arising from sales and purchases transacted in different currencies may be managed by the Group through the use of foreign exchange forward contracts. Pursuant to the Group's policy in place, foreign exchange forward contracts or any other financial derivative contracts may be entered into by the Group for hedging purpose. The Group had not entered into any financial derivative contracts throughout the Reporting Period and had no outstanding financial derivative contracts as at 31 March 2021.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no commitment (as at 31 March 2020: Nil) in respect of acquisition of new plant and equipment and no significant capital commitments.

As at the date of this report, the Group had no plan for any material investment or capital assets.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no pledged assets (as at 31 March 2020: Nil).

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (for the year ended 31 March 2020: Nil).

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed approximately 9 employees (excluding Directors). The total salaries and related costs (including the Directors' fees and labour cost) amounted to approximately HK\$4,738,000 (2020: approximately HK\$13,951,000). The Group offers its employees competitive remuneration schemes which are generally structured with reference to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors. In addition, bonuses are normally paid to those eligible based on the Group's and individual's performance.



SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD DURING THE YEAR

During the Reporting Period, save as disclosed below, the Group had no significant investment.

- (a) On 31 July 2020, the Company subscribed for the subscription notes which are the 11.0% senior notes due 2022 issued by Redco Properties Group Limited(stock code: 1622), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (the "Subscription Notes") and had been successfully allocated the Subscription Notes in the principal amount of US\$1 million (equivalent to approximately HK\$7.80 million) at an aggregated consideration of US\$967,840 (equivalent to approximately HK\$7.55 million);
- (b) During the period from 19 March 2021 to 23 March 2021 (both days inclusive), the Group acquired on the open market a total of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of CNOOC Limited ("CNOOC Shares") at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK\$8.28 million (exclusive of transaction costs) at an average price of approximately HK\$8.28 per CNOOC Shares; and
- (c) On 23 March 2021, the Group acquired on the open market a total of 150,000 ordinary shares of China Mobile ("China Mobile Shares") at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK\$7.82 million (exclusive of transaction costs) at an average price of approximately HK\$52.15 per China Mobile Shares.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 31 July 2020 and 23 March 2021 respectively.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS RELATED TO SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no material acquisitions and disposals related to subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans for material investments or capital assets as at the date of this report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (as at 31 March 2020: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no important event affecting the Group which has occurred after the Reporting Period.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Mr. Lam), aged 51, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 30 June 2017 and the chief executive officer of the Company on 13 September 2017.

Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive director Shi Shi Services Limited (formerly known as "Kong Shum Union Property Management (Holding) Limited") (Stock code: 8181), which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. He is also an independent non-executive director of Starrise Media Holdings Limited (formerly known as "Silverman Holdings Limited") (Stock code: 1616), Holly Futures Co., Limited (弘業期貨股份有限公司) (Stock code: 3678) and Kin Shing Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1630), which are companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam was a director of Sunway International Holdings Limited (Stock code: 58) from May 2015 to June 2019, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He also was an independent non-executive Director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holding Limited (Stock code: 8018) from June 2015 to June 2020, a Company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Lam is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a licensed person for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the SFO. He is also a Certified Dealmaker. He has more than 20 years' experience in finance and auditing. He obtained a bachelor degree in accounting from Xiamen University (廈門大學) in July 1990 and a master degree in business administration from Oxford Brookes University in the United Kingdom in July 2010.

Mr. Situ Shilun (Mr. Situ), aged 62, was appointed as an executive Director and chief operating officer of the Company on 24 December 2019.

Mr. Situ possessed more than 38 years of experience in the area of garment trading, procurement and manufacturing. In August 2002, Mr. Situ established Ningbo Fenghua Hexin Clothing Limited Company* (寧波奉化和欣服飾有限公司), which principally engaged in the outsourcing and processing of clothing and wholesale and retail of the raw materials for clothing, and is currently its executive director, general manager and legal representative. He is currently the general manager of Jinwei Nanometer Textile (Fujian) Co., Ltd., which principal business is the manufacturing of nanometer apparel in the PRC.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lam Lee G. (Dr. Lam), aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 29 September 2017.

Dr. Lam has over 30 years of international experience in general management, strategy consulting, corporate governance, direct investment, investment banking and fund management. He is Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport, a member of the Committee on Innovation, Technology and Re-Industrialization, the Governance Committee of the Hong Kong Growth Portfolio, and the Development Bureau Common Spatial Data Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government, Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of the HKSAR Government Home Affairs Department, a member of the Court of the City University of Hong Kong and the Tencent Finance Academy (Hong Kong) Advisory Board, Chairman of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network (ESBN), Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council (PBEC), and a member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council Belt and Road and Greater Bay Area Committee and the Sir Murray MacLehose Trust Fund Investment Advisory Committee. Dr. Lam holds a BSc in sciences and mathematics, an MSc in systems science and an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, a post-graduate diploma in public administration from Carleton University in Canada, a post-graduate diploma in English and Hong Kong Law and an LLB (Hons) in law from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a LLM in law from the University of Wolverhampton in the UK, a PCLL in law from the City University of Hong Kong, a Certificate in Professional Accountancy from the Chinese University of Hong Kong SCS, an MPA and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong. A former member of the Hong Kong Bar, Dr. Lam is a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong, an Accredited Mediator of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution (CEDR), a Fellow of Certified Management Accountants (CMA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators, the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Institute of Corporate Directors Malaysia (ICDM) and an Honorary Fellow of Certified Public Accountants (CPA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management and the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education. In 2019, Dr. Lam was awarded by the Hong Kong Government a Bronze Bauhinia Star for serving the public.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Dr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director of each of CSI Properties Limited (Stock Code: 497), Vongroup Limited (Stock Code: 318), Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited (Stock Code: 391), Elife Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 223), Haitong Securities Company Limited (Stock Code: 6837, 600837 on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), Kidsland International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2122), and Greenland Hong Kong Holdings Limited (Stock code: 337), and a non-executive director of each of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 188), China LNG Group Limited (Stock Code: 931), National Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited (Stock Code: 8228), Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (Stock Code: 455), Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited (Stock Code: 846, re-designated from independent non-executive director on 23 April 2020) and Eternity Technology Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1725, appointed on 13 May 2021), the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Dr. Lam is also an independent non-executive director of Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments Limited (formerly known as China Real Estate Group Limited, Stock code: 5RA), Top Global Limited (Stock Code: BHO), Alset International Limited (formerly known as Singapore eDevelopment Limited, Stock Code: 40V, re-designated from non-executive director on 2 July 2020), Beverly JCG Limited (formerly known as JCG Investment Holdings Ltd., Stock Code: VFP), and Thomson Medical Group Limited (Stock Code: A50), the shares of all of which are listed on the Singapore Exchange. Dr. Lam is an independent non-executive director of Sunwah International Limited (Stock Code: SWH), whose shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange, AustChina Holdings Limited (Stock Code: AUH), whose shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange and TMC Life Sciences Berhad (Stock Code: 0101), whose shares are listed on the Bursa Malaysia, and a non-executive director of Jade Road Investments Limited (formerly known as Adamas Finance Asia Limited, Stock Code: JADE), whose shares are listed on the London Securities Exchange.

In the past three years, Dr. Lam was a non-executive director of China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (stock code: 412) up to 14 May 2020 and Green Leader Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 0061) up to 22 July 2019, and was also an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) up to 1 March 2021, Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (stock code: 2277, privatized on 12 November 2020) up to 31 December 2020, Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 404; delisted on the Stock Exchange in December 2019) up to 27 September 2019, Glorious Sun Enterprises Limited (stock code: 393) up to 31 August 2019, Xi'an Haitiantian Holdings Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8227) up to 23 July 2018, the shares of all of which are or were listed on the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent non-executive director of a Singapore Exchange listed company, Rowsley Ltd. (stock code: A50) up to 25 April 2018, and a Stuttgart Stock Exchange listed company, Vietnam Equity Holding (stock code: 3MS) up to 28 February 2018.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Kin (Mr. Chan), aged 51, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 12 June 2017 and re-designated as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 February 2019.

Mr. Chan graduated from Shanghai Institute of Foreign Trade* (上海外貿職工大學) in 1980s and immigrated to Hong Kong in 1990s. He engaged in international trade, marketing, finance and investment risk management and other industries. Since 1993, he has been self-employed and founded Fong Shing Investment Limited. With the practical working experience accumulated in Hong Kong and China in the past 30 years, he has been engaged in the project investment research, operation planning and business evaluation of the project as well as the provision of advice regarding corporate strategic management, investment management and capital operation management and risk.

Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny (Mr. Chau), aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 16 April 2021.

Mr. Chau obtained a bachelor's degree in arts from Manchester Metropolitan University in the United Kingdom in September 2005. Mr. Chau is currently an executive director and deputy chief executive officer of ELL Environmental Holdings Limited a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1395) and vice president of Hong Kong Basketball Association. Mr. Chau has extensive experiences in finance, investment and sports management.

The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts an investment holding company. The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's revenue by geographical areas of operations for the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of the business review of the Group are set out in the sections headed "Introduction" and "Management Discussion and Analysis" on pages 4 to 9 of this report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company can also be found throughout this report particularly in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group has reported its financial conditions in due compliance with procedures stipulated under the Listing Rules. For details of the financial risks, please refer to the section headed "Financial Review" in "Management Discussion and Analysis" set out on pages 7 to 9 of this report.

The key financial and business performance indicators of the Group included revenue, gross profit, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, Shareholders' funds and debt to equity ratio. Details of these indicators are provided in the sections headed "Financial Summary" and "Management Discussion and Analysis" on page 114 and pages 7 to 9 of this report respectively.

The future development in the Group's business has been set out in the section headed "Introduction" on page 5 of this report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the Group's financial position at that date are set out on pages 42 to 43.

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 (for the year ended 31 March 2020: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 March 2021, represented by its special reserve and net of accumulated losses was HK\$41,210,000 (2020: HK\$62,150,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company during the year are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.



DIVIDEND POLICY

The objective of the Company's dividend policy (the "**Dividend Policy**") is to allow Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth.

The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the Articles and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out below:

- the Group's results of operations and cash flows;
- the Group's future prospects;
- general business conditions;
- the Group's capital requirements and surplus;
- contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to its Shareholders or by subsidiaries to the Company;
- statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
- any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's published results and the Group's assets and liabilities for the last five financial years is set on page 114 of this report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Situ Shilun (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Zhi Hua (Chairman) (Retired on 31 July 2020)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Dr. Lam Lee G.

Mr. Chan Kin

Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny (Appointed on 16 April 2021)

Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen (Resigned on 12 April 2021)

DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with Bye-Law 108(A), each of Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, Mr. Situ Shilun, Dr. Lam Lee G. and Mr. Chan Kin shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "Forthcoming AGM").

In accordance with Bye-Law 112, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of Shareholders after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the Forthcoming AGM and shall retire and be eligible for re-election at the Forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the Forthcoming AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and following confirmations from the Directors, up to the date of this report, save as set below, there is no change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Dr. Lam Lee G.

Save as disclosed on the interim report 2020/2021 of the Company, Dr. Lam was appointed as a non-executive director of Eternity Technology Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1725) on 31 May 2021, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. He resigned as independent non-executive director each of Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (Stock Code: 2277) on 31 December 2020, whose shares were privatized on 12 November 2020, and Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) on 1 March 2021, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Reporting Period.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Except for the disclosure in this report, no other contract of significance, including contracts for the provision of services, had been entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders during the Reporting Period.

COMPETING BUSINESS INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates has any interests in a business which competes or may compete with the business of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected and related transactions undertaken in the ordinary course of business by the Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. Saved as disclosed therein, none of these related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction of the Group as defined in and required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Group confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

During the Reporting Period, the Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company's subsidiaries in Hong Kong and PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange.

To the best of the Directors knowledge, during the Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance by the Group with the applicable laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors are independent to the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Brief biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 13 of this report.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name of director	Capacity in which interests are held	Number of shares held under equity derivatives (Note 2)	Approximate percentage of shareholding (Note 1)
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung	Beneficial owner	5,192,000 (L) (Note 3)	0.66%

Notes:

- 1. The percentage has been calculated based on 785,927,000 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2021.
- 2. The letter "L" denotes the Directors' long position in the Shares.
- 3. It represents 5,192,000 share options granted on 16 January 2018 pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company and are exercisable at the price of HK\$0.854 per share, and with a ten-year validity period from 16 January 2018.



DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above in this report, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, according to the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors, the following persons (other than Directors and the chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder	Capacity	Number of shares held and class of securities (Note 2)	Approximate percentage of shareholding (Note 1)
Rosy Lane International Limited	Beneficial owner	322,409,404 Shares (L) (Note 3)	41.02%
Mr. Ng Leung Ho	Beneficial owner	103,950,000 Shares (L) (Note 4)	13.23%
Mr. Ng Tsze Lun	Beneficial owner	50,173,000 Shares (L)	6.38%
Ms. Yau Yuk Chun Carole	Interest of spouse	50,173,000 Shares (L) (Note 5)	6.38%

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

- 1. The percentage has been calculated based on 785,927,000 Shares in issue as at 31 March 2021.
- 2. The letter "L" denotes the individual's or the corporation's long position in the Shares.
- 3. Rosy Lane International Limited is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the entire issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Zhi Hua.
- 4. Apart from 103,950,000 Shares of the Company, there are also 322,326,500 Shares of the Company charged to Mr. Ng Leung Ho under a share charge as security for a loan from Bloom Dragon Finance Limited. Bloom Dragon Finance Limited is owned as to 50% by Mr. Ng Chi Lung and 50% by Good Fellow Group Limited. Good Fellow Group Limited is owned as to 99.99% by Hillbrow Securities Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Ng Leung Ho.
- 5. Ms. Yau Yuk Chun Carole is the wife of Mr. Ng Tsze Lun. Under the SFO, Ms. Yau Yuk Chun Carole is deemed to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Ng Tsze Lun is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, there was no other person who was recorded in the register of the Company as having interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who will be, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all the circumstances at general meetings of members of the Group other than the Company, or which were required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme on 2 June 2010 which became effective upon the Company's shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 5 October 2010. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives and rewards to eligible participants, including eligible Directors, eligible employees and any other eligible persons, for their contributions to the Group.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares Options which may be issued upon the exercise of all options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company shall be re-set at 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of the limit as "refreshed".

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The aggregate number of shares issuable under the share options granted on 16 January 2018 under the Share Option Scheme was 22,068,000 shares, representing approximately 3.36% of the issued share capital of the Company. The Company obtained a fresh approval of then scheme limit under the Share Option Scheme in an annual general meeting held on 28 September 2018. Details of the share options of the Company granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled pursuant to the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2021 were as follows:

		Number of shares issuable under the share options Lapsed/							
Name of Grantee	Date of grant	Exercise Price (HK\$)	Exercise period	Vesting period	As at 1 April 2020	Granted during the year	Exercised during the year	cancelled during the year	As at 31 March 2021
Directors									
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung	16/01/2018	0.854 per share	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	5,192,000	-	-	-	5,192,000
Other participants in aggregate	16/01/2018	0.854 per share	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	15,576,000	-	-	-	15,576,000

None of the share options was granted, exercised, lapsed and cancelled under the Share Option Scheme throughout the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OF DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed "Share Option Scheme" above, at no time during the Reporting Period was the Company, its holding company, nor any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and management of the Group are reviewed and recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company's operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group recognises the employees as the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group's human resource management is to reward and recognise performing staff by providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to promote career development and progression by appropriate on-the-job training and providing opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Company has not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company for the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, sales to the five largest customers accounted for 97.40% of the total revenue of the Group and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately 78.25% of the total revenue of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 100% of the total purchases of the Group and purchases from the largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately 80.27%.

At no time during the year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a Shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company's share capital) have an interest in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

CUSTOMERS

The Group is committed to offering high-quality services to customers. It values the opinions and feedback of all customers through various means and channels, including the usage of telephone, direct mail and after-sale return visit. This is to ensure that the Group is well aware of all customers' requirements or feedbacks on a timely basis and provides high quality services to its customers. In addition, the Group continues to proactively manage customer relations, expand its customer base and enhance customer loyalty.

SUPPLIERS

The Group establishes working relationships with suppliers to meet customers' needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group's requirements and standards are well-communicated to suppliers before placing orders in order to ensure the deliverance of high-quality samples. All key suppliers have a close and long-term relationship with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float pursuant to the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Bye-Law 191) for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the Reporting Period.

The Company had taken out and maintained appropriate corporate liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company throughout the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company's corporate governance principles and practices are set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance Report" in this annual report.

OTHER DISCLOSURE

Placing of news shares under general mandate and the use of proceeds

On 22 February 2021, to raise capital to meet any future development opportunities and obligation, broaden shareholders' base and the capital base of the Company, the Company and Kingston Securities Limited (the "Placing Agent") entered into the placing agreement, pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place through the Placing Agent, on a best efforts basis, of up to 130,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of HK\$0.131 per placing share. The aggregate nominal value of the placing shares is HK\$1,300,000. On 4 March 2021, a total of 130,000,000 placing shares have been successfully placed by the Placing Agent to not less than six independent placees who are professional institutional or other investors at the placing price of HK\$0.131 per placing share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the placing agreement. The market price of the share was HK\$0.146 as at the date of the placing agreement. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 22 February 2021 and 4 March 2021 respectively.

As set out in the announcement of the Company dated 4 March 2021, the net proceeds from the placing, after deducting commission and other expenses of the placing, amounted to approximately HK\$16.63 million, representing a net issue price of approximately HK\$0.128 per placing share, would be used for the development of its existing garment sourcing business, the provision of financial services business and general working capital. As at 31 March 2021, approximately HK\$1 million was used for general working capital. The following table set forth the Company's intended timetable for use of proceeds from the placing as of 31 March 2021:

Intended use of net proceeds	Allocation of net proceeds		Balance of net proceeds unutilized as of 31 March 2021	Intended timetable for use of the unutilized net proceeds
The development of the existing garment sourcing business, the provision of financial services business and general working capital	16.63	1	15.63	Before 31 March 2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Further discussion on the Company's environmental principles and practices and its relationship with the respective stakeholders is set out in the Independent Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which will be uploaded to the Company's and the Stock Exchange's website and no later than one months after the publication of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental sustainability against modern ecological challenges. As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has been actively taking steps to minimise the negative environmental impacts, reduce wastage and maximise energy efficiency which in turn provides a green and eco-friendly environment to the community. Green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying, promoting using recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting are encouraged in the operation of the Group's businesses. The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will consider implementing further practicable measures and practices to enhance environmental sustainability.

AUDITORS

The Company appointed Elite Partners CPA Limited ("Elite Partners") as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 2 April 2020 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Pan-China (HK) CPA Limited and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not change its auditor in the past three years. The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been audited by Elite Partners, who will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board

Lam Kai Yeung

Executive director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 23 June 2021

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the code provisions ("Code Provisions") under the Corporate Governance Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates, among others, that independent non-executive Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend general meetings. Due to his other business engagement, Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen, a then independent non-executive Director, was unable to attend 2020 AGM.

Under Code Provision C.2.5, the Group should have an internal audit function. However, due to the size of the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration, the Group currently does not have an internal audit function. Instead, the Audit Committee has a review on the internal control system annually. The review covers major financial, operational controls in rotation basis and also the risk management functions. No significant deficiency was identified under current period's review and the systems were operating effectively and adequately. The Group continues to review the need for an internal audit function annually.

Code Provision E.1.2 requires that the chairman of the board of the company should attend the annual general meeting. The then chairman of the Board, Mr. Zhi Hua, was unable to attend 2020 AGM due to his other business engagements. Mr. Lam Kai Yeung, an executive Director, acted as the chairman of 2020 AGM in accordance with the Bye-Laws.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has established a code of conduct regarding Directors' securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises five Directors, including two executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (chief executive officer) and Mr. Situ Shilun (chief operating officer); and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Lam Lee G., Mr. Chan Kin and Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny.

The relationship among members of the Board and biographical details of the Directors who are currently serving on the Board are set out on pages 10 to 13 of this annual report. To the best knowledge of the Company and save as disclosed under the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management" of this report and interests set out in the sections headed "Directors' and Chief Executives' Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures" and "Substantial Shareholders' and Other Persons' Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares" of this report, there is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship(s) among members of the Board.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and if eligible, may offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the Bye-Laws.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board collectively monitors performance and the related risks and controls in pursuit of the strategic objectives of the Company. Day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to executive Directors and management of the Company in charge of the Group's business.

To implement the strategies and plans effectively, executive Directors and the management meet on a regular basis to review the performance of the business of the Group, co-ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational decisions.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE LISTING RULES

After the Reporting Period, following the resignation of Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen, a then independent non-executive Director, with effect from 12 April 2021, (i) the number of the independent non-executive Director s has fallen below the minimum number required under Rules 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (ii) there is a vacancy of chairman of the Remuneration Committee as required under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the number of members of the Audit Committee has fallen below the minimum number required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has taken remedial steps by actively identifying an appropriate candidate to fill such vacancy following Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen's resignation. Upon the appointment of Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny as an independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from 16 April 2021, the Company has then re-complied with the relevant provisions.

BOARD MEETINGS

Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Board met on other occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter was required.

The Board meets regularly to review and determine the corporate strategies and overall strategic policies. Each of the Directors of the Board has full access to relevant information at the meetings. The Board has 12 meetings during the year ended 31 March 2021 and conducted the following activities at such regular meetings:

- (a) approved the interim and final results, interim and annual report, and matters to be considered at the annual general meeting of the Company;
- (b) discussed corporate strategies of the Group for the financial year ending 31 March 2021;
- (c) reviewed the performance and financial position of the Group;
- (d) reviewed, discussed and approved the matters in relation to the appointment of the Directors and Company Secretary; and
- (e) reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration packages of the employees of the Group and Directors and bonus payment for the year ended 31 March 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

Pursuant to the Board Committees' terms of reference, the Board shall keep the effectiveness of the corporate governance and system of internal non-financial controls of the Group. The Board shall introduce and propose relevant principles concerning corporate governance and review and determine the corporate governance policy, so as to effect a high standard of corporate governance practices in the Group. The duties of the Board and the Board Committees, as the case may be, shall include the following aspects:

- (a) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;
- (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous development of the Directors and the management;
- (c) to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
- (d) to review and approve the annual corporate governance report and related disclosures in annual and interim reports of the Group and ensure compliance with relevant requirements under the Listing Rules or the rules of any other stock exchange in respect of which the securities of the Company are listed or quoted, or other laws, regulations, rules and codes as may be applicable to the Group (the "Applicable Laws");
- (e) to make sure that appropriate monitoring systems are in place to ensure compliance against the relevant internal control systems, processes and policies, and in particular to monitor the implementation of the Group's plans to maintain a high level of compliance with its own risk management standard;
- (f) to monitor if each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee (or such other Board committee(s) from time to time established) has duly discharged their respective duties and obligations in accordance with their respective terms of reference, the Listing Rules and any Applicable Laws; and
- (g) to review the Group's compliance with the Corporate Governance Code from time to time adopted by the Group and the disclosure in the corporate governance report to be contained in the Company's annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company are separate and performed by Mr. Zhi Hua and Mr. Lam Kai Yeung respectively from 13 September 2017 to 31 July 2020. Following the retirement of Mr. Zhi Hua as a director of the company on 31 July 2020, the chairman of the board of directors of the Company was suspended. The Board does not have the intention to fill the position of chairman of the Board at present and believes that the absence of a chairman of the Board will not have adverse effect to the Company as decisions of the Company will be made collectively by the Board.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a fixed term of three years. The term of each of the independent non-executive Directors shall be renewable automatically for a successive term of three years each commencing from the next day after the expiry of their then current term of appointment, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws unless terminated by not less than one month notice in writing.

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received annual written confirmation of independence from all independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers them to be independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees including the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee. The Board has delegated some of its functions to the Board Committees, the details of which are discussed below.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Kin (chairman), Dr. Lam Lee G and Mr. Chan Chi Yan Benny. It was established on 19 March 2012 and its duties are clearly defined in its revised written terms of reference which have been prepared and adopted according to the Code Provisions. The revised terms of reference of Nomination Committee can be found in the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The duties of the Nomination Committee are, but not limited to, to review, formulate and consider the nomination procedures as regards the appointment, reappointment and removal of Directors and to make recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board. No Director takes part in any discussions and decisions about his own appointment.

Proposals for the appointment of a new Director, if any, will be considered and reviewed by the Nomination Committee prior to recommending them to the Board for approval. All candidates to be selected and qualified to be members of the Board must also meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive director should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board will also seek legal advice on the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules prior to the appointment of any independent non-executive Director as appropriate.

3 meeting of the Nomination Committee were held during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (with individual member's attendance as set out on page 32 of this report under the section of "Number of Meetings and Directors' Attendance"). The Nomination Committee conducted the following major work during the year ended 31 March 2021, amongst other things:

- reviewed the size, structure and the composition of the Board;
- reviewed the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
- made recommendations to the Board on the nomination of Directors for re-election at 2020
 AGM; and
- made recommendations on the Board on the appointment of Company Secretary.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience. The Nomination Committee would review the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy in achieving the objectives set for the benefits of the Company. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate's character, qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company is dedicated to having a diverse Board which can enable corporate issues be considered from different perspectives and appropriate level of examination and evaluation be conducted. On 29 August 2013, the Board adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company aims to achieve diversity of its board members through consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background and professional and industry experience. The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption to ensure its continued effectiveness.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny (chairman), Dr. Lam Lee G. and Mr. Chan Kin. It was established by the Board on 8 September 2010 and its duties are clearly defined in its revised written terms of reference which have been prepared and adopted according to the Code Provisions. The revised terms of reference of Remuneration Committee can be found in the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for determining the Group's policy and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management, assessing performance of executive Directors, approving the terms of executive Director's service contracts and making recommendations to the Board regarding the specific remuneration packages of individual Director and senior management of the Company. The remuneration of Directors will be determined by the Board with reference to the individual's experience duties and responsibilities with the Company, and the prevailing market conditions.

2 meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held during the financial year ended 31 March 2021 (with individual member's attendance as set out on page 32 of this report under the section headed "Number of Meetings and Directors' Attendance") and conducted the following major work:

- reviewed the policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management;
- reviewed the remuneration packages of employees of the Group and Directors; and
- reviewed the bonus payment to employees of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

No Director took part in any discussions and decisions about his own remuneration during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5, a company should disclose details of any remuneration payable to members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31 March 2021 in its annual report. Details of members of the senior management remuneration are provided in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statement.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Lam Lee G. (chairman), Mr. Chan Kin and Mr. Chan Chi Yan Benny. It was established by the Board on 8 September 2010 and its duties are clearly defined in its revised written terms of reference which have been prepared and adopted according to the Code Provisions. The revised terms of reference of Audit Committee can be found in the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had complied with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules in relation to the appointment of a minimum of three independent non-executive Directors and at least one independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee, having appropriate professional accounting or financial management experience.

The Audit Committee provides an important link between the Board and the Company's external auditor in matters coming within the scope of the Group's audit. It also reviews the annual and interim results of the Company prior to recommending them to the Board for approval, the effectiveness of the external and internal audit and of internal controls and risk evaluation.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Audit Committee has convened 3 meetings (with individual member's attendance as set out on page 32 of this report under the section of "Number of Meetings and Directors' Attendance") and conducted the following major work:

- reviewed the interim and annual reports of the Company together with the external auditor and management of the Company;
- reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external auditor of the Company as well as development in accounting standards and its effects on the Group;
- updated the terms of reference of audit committee of the Board of Directors of the Company;
- reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system together with the external auditor of the Company; and
- made recommendations to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of the external auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Board's and the Audit Committee's view on the selection, appointment and resignation of external auditor.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 with the management and the external auditor of the Company and recommended its adoption to the Board.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE

Attendance records of the Directors at Board Meetings (BM), Audit Committee Meetings (ACM), Remuneration Committee Meetings (RCM), Nomination Committee Meetings (NCM), Special General Meeting (SGM) and Annual General Meeting (AGM) held for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out below:

	Meetings attended/Eligible to attend For the year ended 31 March 2021				
	ВМ	ACM	RCM	NCM	AGM
Executive Directors					
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Chief Executive Officer)	12/12	N/A	N/A	N/A	1/1
Mr. Situ Shilun (Chief Operating Officer)	12/12	N/A	N/A	N/A	1/1
Mr. Zhi Hua (Chairman) (retired on 31 July 2020)	0/5	N/A	N/A	N/A	0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors					
Dr. Lam Lee G.	12/12	3/3	2/2	3/3	1/1
Mr. Chan Kin	11/11	3/3	1/1	2/2	1/1
Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
(appointed on 16 April 2021)					
Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen	12/12	3/3	2/2	3/3	0/1
(resigned on 12 April 2021)					

DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate corporate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

DIRECTORS' INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives a necessary induction and information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company's business and operations. In addition, our external legal adviser conducts training for new Director(s) on the first occasion of his appointment, so that he is aware of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5, all Directors should participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development by reading regulatory updates provided by the company secretary of the Company to refresh their knowledge in corporate governance matters, as follows:

	Reading materials
Executive Directors	
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (Chief Executive Officer)	√
Mr. Situ Shilun (Chief Operating Officer) Mr. Zhi Hua (Chairman) (retired on 31 July 2020)	N/A
Will Zill Flad (Chairman) (Founds on Cr day 2020)	14/71
Independent Non-executive Directors	
Dr. Lam Lee G.	✓
Mr. Chan Kin	✓
Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny (appointed on 16 April 2021)	N/A
Mr. Chau On Ta Yuen (resigned on 12 April 2021)	✓

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the nature of the audit and non-audit services provided by Elite Partners and the relevant fee paid by the Company were as follows:

	Service Fee HK\$'000
Audit services Non-audit services	530 73
Total	603

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group, for safeguarding the assets of the Group and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Board is responsible for overseeing and ensuring that a sound and effective internal control system is maintained within the Group in order to safeguard the Group's assets and the interests of the Shareholders. The management reviews and evaluates the control process and monitors any risk factors on a regular basis, and reports to the Board and the Audit Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances and identified risks.

During the Reporting Period, the Board conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group's internal control system. The Board is satisfied that the existing internal control system of the Group is effective and adequate for its present requirement.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. Huang Huajuan (appointed on 1 February 2021) and Mr. Lam Kai Yeung (resigned on 1 February 2021), met the requirements on professional training under the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING ON REQUISITION

- 1.1 Shareholders have the right to call for a special general meeting on requisition in the manner prescribed by and set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies Act.
- 1.2 Bye-Law 65 provides that "The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene a special general meeting, and special general meetings shall also be convened on requisition, as provided by the Companies Act, and, in default, may be convened by the requisitionists."
- 1.3 Pursuant to section 74 of the Companies Act, Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the "General Meeting Requisitionists") may by written requisition (the "General Meeting Requisition") to the Board or the secretary of the Company (the "Company Secretary"), require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
- 1.4 The General Meeting Requisition must state the purpose of the meeting, and must be signed by the General Meeting Requisitionists; the General Meeting Requisition may consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more General Meeting Requisitionists.

- 1.5 The General Meeting Requisition shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and copied to the head office and principal place of business of the Company at Room 2101, 21/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and marked for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary.
- 1.6 If the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting within 21 days from the date of the deposit of General Meeting Requisition as set out in the paragraph 1.2 above, the General Meeting Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half of their total voting rights, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of the deposit of the General Meeting Requisition.
- 1.7 Any reasonable expenses incurred by the General Meeting Requisitionists by reason of the failure of the directors of the Company to duly convene a meeting shall be repaid to the General Meeting Requisitionists by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR RAISING ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings, share transfer, registration and payment of dividend to the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, details of which are as follows:

Tricor Secretaries Limited

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2980 1333 Fax: (852) 2861 1465

Shareholders may at any time raise any enquiry in respect of the Company at the following designated contacts, correspondence addresses, email addresses and enquiry hotlines of the Company:

Address: Room 2101, 21/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught

Road Central, Hong Kong

Email: hk1682@yahoo.com Tel: (852) 2111 9823 Fax: (852) 2111 0793

Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders are encouraged to make enquiries via the online enquiry form available on the Company's website at www.hk01682.com.

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together with their detailed contact information for the prompt response from the Company if it deems appropriate.

Corporate Governance Report

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETING

- 1. Subject to paragraph 2 below, pursuant to in sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, Resolution Requisitionists (as defined in paragraph 2 below) may, by requisition in writing (the "Resolution Requisition"), request the Company to give to or circulate to (as the case may be) the Shareholders (i) notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the next annual general meeting of the Company (and such notice shall be given to Shareholders who are entitled to receive notice of the Forthcoming AGM); or (ii) any statement of not more than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at any general meeting (and such notice shall be circulated to members entitled to have notice of any general meeting sent to them), at the expense of the Resolution Requisitionists.
- 2. "Resolution Requisitionists" means Shareholders making a requisition under paragraph 1 above and shall constitute either:
 - (a) any number of Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or
 - (b) not less than one hundred Shareholders.
- 3. A copy of the Resolution Requisition signed by the Resolution Requisitionists with their detailed contact information, or two or more copies containing the signatures of all the Resolution Requisitionists, shall be deposited at the registered office and copied to the head office and principal place of business of the Company at their respective address specified in above headed "convening a special general meeting on requisition":
 - (a) in the case of Resolution Requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks before the Forthcoming AGM; and
 - (b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week before the general meeting.
- 4. Resolution Requisitionists shall deposit or tender with the Resolution Requisition a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company's expenses in giving notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement as provided under the Companies Act.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There was no change in the Company's Bye-Laws during the Reporting Period.

Independent Auditor's Report



TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HANG PIN LIVING TECHNOLOGY COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") set out on pages 42 to 112, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements* section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor's Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had loan receivables, net of allowance for credit losses recognised, of approximately HK\$44,343,000. Management judgment is required in assessing and determining the recoverability of loan receivables and adequacy of allowance made.

In determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes into consideration the credit history of the customers and the current market condition which may require management judgment.

Our audit procedures in relation to the management's impairment assessment of loan receivables including but not limited to:

- Obtaining an understanding on how the allowance on loan receivables is estimated by the management and assessing the management's process in determining the estimated future cash flows of loan receivables;
- Checking the aging analysis, on a sample basis, against repayment terms set out on loan agreements and subsequent settlement of the loan receivables, on a sample basis, to the source documents, including bank statements;
- Identifying any loan receivables with delay in payments during the year from the register of loan receivables and evaluating the management's assessment of the recoverability of each of these loan receivables with reference to the status of each of these individual borrowers and the Group's debt collection actions;
- Assessing the reasonableness of allowance on loan receivables with reference to the credit history including delay in payments, interest settlement records, subsequent settlements and aging analysis of the loan receivables; and

Key audit matter	How our audit addressed the key audit matter
	 Evaluating the historical accuracy of the management's assessment of impairment for loan receivables, on a sample basis, by examining the actual write-offs, the reversal of previous recorded allowance and new allowances recorded in the current year in respect of loan receivables at the end of the previous financial year.
	We consider the management conclusion to be consistent with the available information.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor's Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Mr. Lock Kwong Hang, Simon with Practising Certificate number P06735.

Elite Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon Hong Kong 23 June 2021

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2021

		2021	2020
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Revenue	5	120,057	122,097
Cost of sales		(114,754)	(117,339)
Gross profit		5,303	4,758
Other income and other net gain	7	2,860	4,945
Exchange difference, net		(261)	(3,493)
Selling and distribution costs		_	(965)
Administrative and operating expenses		(11,998)	(24,985)
Reversal of/(allowance for) expected credit loss, net	10	3,164	(4,118)
Finance costs	8	(28)	(51)
Loss before taxation		(960)	(23,909)
Income tax expense	9	(3,000)	(93)
Loss for the year attributable			
to owners of the Company	10	(3,960)	(24,002)
			· · · ·
Other comprehensive income/(expense)			
Items that may be reclassified subsequently			
to profit or loss:			
Exchange differences arising on translation			
of foreign operations		107	(245)
Reclassification adjustments relating			(= :0)
to foreign operations disposed of			
during the year		_	1,501
			.,
Other comprehensive income for the year		107	1,256
		101	1,200
Total comprehensive expense for the year			
attributable to owners of the Company		(3,853)	(22,746)
attinuation to office of the company		(0,000)	(22,1-10)
Lace now shows	4.4		
Loss per share	14	(0.00)	(0,00)
Basic and diluted (HK cents)		(0.60)	(3.66)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 2021

		2021	2020
	Notes	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Plant and equipment Right-of-use assets Amount due from a former subsidiary	15 16 17	1,008 12,220 -	10,850 14,302 3,972
Loan receivables	18	44,343	_
		57,571	29,124
CURRENT ASSETS Trade and other receivables	17	30,047	54,859
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") Cash and cash equivalents	19 20	23,801 15,243	6,017 21,736
		69,091	82,612
CURRENT LIABILITIES Trade and other payables Tax payables Lease liabilities	21 22	14,084 4,200 113	14,988 1,200 654
		18,397	16,842
NET CURRENT ASSETS		50,694	65,770
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES		108,265	94,894
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Lease liabilities	22	_	239
		_	239
NET ASSETS		108,265	94,655
CAPITAL AND RESERVES Share capital Reserves	23	7,859 100,406	6,559 88,096
TOTAL EQUITY		108,265	94,655

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (the "Board") on 23 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lam Kai Yeung
Director

Situ Shilun Director

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2021

	Share capital HK\$'000	Share premium HK\$'000	Special reserve HK\$'000 (Note i)	Share option reserve HK\$'000 (Note ii)	Foreign currency translation reserve HK\$'000 (Note iii)	Accumulated losses HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
As at 1 April 2019	6,559	101,350	18,787	1,058	(1,393)	(9,816)	116,545
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments Lapsed of share options	-	- -	-	856 (103)	-	- 103	856
Loss for the year Other comprehensive (expense)/income - Exchange differences arising on	-	-	-	-	-	(24,002)	(24,002)
translation of foreign operations - Reclassification adjustments relating to foreign operations disposed of	-	-	-	-	(245)	-	(245)
during the year Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year	-	-	-	-	1,501	(24,002)	1,501 (22,746)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020	6,559	101,350	18,787	1,811	(137)	(33,715)	94,655
Recognition of equity-settled share-based payments	_	_	_	818	-	-	818
Loss for the year Other comprehensive (expense)/income	-	-	-	-	-	(3,960)	(3,960)
 Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 	-	-	-	-	107	-	107
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year lssue of new shares upon placing, net	- 1,300	- 15,345	- -	- -	107 -	(3,960)	(3,853) 16,645
As at 31 March 2021	7,859	116,695	18,787	2,629	(30)	(37,675)	108,265

Notes:

- (i) The special reserve represents (a) the reserve arising from a previous group reorganisation; and (b) cancellation of share premium, less special dividend in prior years.
- (ii) Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised in other operating expenses with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve.
- (iii) Foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group's foreign operations from their functional currencies to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar ("HK\$")) are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the date of disposal.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2021

	2021	2020
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES		
Loss before taxation	(960)	(23,909)
Adjustments for:	(4.440)	(104)
Interest income Depreciation of plant and equipment	(1,148) 1,120	(194) 439
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	1,964	823
Change on fair value of financial assets at FVTPL	(314)	(143)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment	(1,212)	447
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets Equity-settled share-based payment expense	118 818	856
(Reversal of)/allowance for expected credit losses	(3,164)	4,118
Finance costs	28	51
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries	_	(4,608)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital	(2,750)	(22,120)
Decrease in inventories	(=,: 00)	13
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables	42,505	(11,359)
(Increase)/decrease in loan receivables	(45,000) (904)	62,627 16,036
(Decease)/increase in trade and other payables	(904)	10,030
Cash (used in)/generated from operations	(6,149)	45,197
Income tax paid	_	(93)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities	(6,149)	45,104
INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Interest received	5	194
Purchase of plant and equipment	(1,066)	(11,063)
Purchase of financial asset at FVTPL	(23,710)	(5,874)
Payments of right-of-use assets Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment	1,100	(14,000)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets of FVTPL	7,383	_
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries	_	6,105
Net cash used in investing activities	(16,288)	(24,638)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
Interest paid	(28)	(51)
Repayment of lease liabilities	(780)	(486)
Proceeds from share placing, net	16,645	
Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities	15,837	(537)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH		
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	(6,600)	19,929
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE REPORTING PERIOD	21,736	3,705
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes	107	(1,898)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		
AT THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD		
Representing by cash and cash equivalents	15,243	21,736

For the year ended 31 March 2021

1. GENERAL

The Company is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").

Rosy Lane International Limited is the controlling shareholder of the Company, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") with limited liability, which is ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhi Hua. The Company's registered office is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is located at Room 2101, 21/F., China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Group are garment sourcing and provision of financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar ("HK\$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK\$000) except otherwise indicated.

2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the *Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards* and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Except as described below, the application of the *Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards* and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments provide a new definition of material that states "information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity." The amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with other information, in the context of the financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments clarify that while businesses usually have outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of activities and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive process has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election on whether to apply the optional concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction basis.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected hedges during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate benchmarks are amended as a result of the ongoing interest rate benchmark reform. The amendments are relevant to the Group given that it applies hedge accounting to its benchmark interest rate exposures.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS ("HKFRS") (CONTINUED)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

HKFRS 17 Amendment to HKFRS 16 Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Amendments to HKFRSs Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Amendments to HKAS 8 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments¹ Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions⁴ Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021⁶

Reference to the Conceptual Framework² Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2⁵

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture³

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)¹

Deferred tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction¹

Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use²

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract² Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 – 2020² Disclosure of Accounting Policies¹

Definition of Accounting Estimates¹

- ¹ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
- ² Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
- Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
- ⁶ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

The directors anticipate that the application of new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules") and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions that are in accordance with HKFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;
- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).

Accounting subsidiaries as a result of contractual arrangements

Owing to the foreign ownership restrictions in an entity providing value-added telecommunications services under the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") laws and regulations, the Group entered into the peer-to-peer ("P2P") financing industry through Hangzhou Huazhiying Investment Management Co., Ltd.* 杭州華之嬴投資管理有限公司 ("杭州華之嬴"), a limited liability company established in the PRC. 杭州華之嬴 operates an online platform in provision of information services including information gathering, information publication, credit assessment, information exchange and lender-borrower matching for both lenders and borrowers to facilitate P2P loans. The registered shareholders of 杭州華之嬴 are Zhis Holding Group Co., Ltd*. (支氏控股集團有限公司) ("Zhis") and Ms. Yu Xiaoling ("Ms. Yu"), the spouse of Mr. Zhi Hua.

Linglong (Hangzhou) Asset Management Co., Ltd*. (玲隆(杭州)資產管理有限公司) ("Linglong (Hangzhou)"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 杭州華之嬴 and its registered owners entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the "Contractual Arrangements") on 4 October 2018, which enable Linglong (Hangzhou) and the Group to:

- exercise effective financial and operational control over 杭州華之嬴;
- exercise all owners' voting rights of 杭州華之嬴;
- receive the economic interest returns in terms of service fee generated by 杭州華之嬴 in consideration for the technical support and consulting services provided by Linglong (Hangzhou);
- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part of equity interests in 杭州華之嬴 from the respective owners at a minimum purchase price permitted under PRC laws and regulations, and all or part of the assets of 杭州 華之嬴 at the net book value of such assets or such minimum purchase price permitted under PRC laws and regulations. Linglong (Hangzhou) may exercise such purchase right at any time until it has acquired all equity interests and/or all assets of 杭州華之嬴; and

^{*} for identification purpose only

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Accounting subsidiaries as a result of contractual arrangements (continued)

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of 杭州華之嬴 from their respective owners as collateral security for all of 杭州華之嬴's payments due to Linglong (Hangzhou) and to secure performance of respective owners and 杭州華之嬴's obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

The details of the Contractual Arrangements were disclosed in the announcement and circular dated 4 October 2018 and 20 November 2018 respectively.

The Group does not hold any equity interest in 杭州華之嬴. However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns from its involvement with 杭州華之嬴 and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 杭州華之嬴 and is considered to control 杭州華之嬴. Consequently, the Company regards 杭州華之嬴 as an indirect wholly owned subsidiary for accounting purpose.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control over 杭州華之嬴 and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the Group's beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of 杭州華之嬴. The directors, based on the advice of its legal advisor, consider that the Contractual Arrangements among Linglong (Hangzhou), 杭州華之嬴 and its equity holders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

(c) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;
- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard; and

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Business combinations (continued)

• lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as gain on bargain purchase.

(d) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (the "CGUs") (or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

(e) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control" of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;
- the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
- the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified goods or service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified goods or service provided by another party before that goods or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Revenue from sourcing of garment products

Revenue from sourcing of garment products is recognised at a point in time when control of the goods has been transferred, being when the goods have been delivered to the customers. The normal credit term is ranging from 30 to 150 days upon delivery.

Financial service income

Financial service income is recognised on a success basis, i.e. when the relevant application for loan has been successfully approved and granted through the online platform operated by the Group. The Group act as agent in financial service and entitled service fee in accordance with the percentage stated in the contract. The service income will be received by the Group within 1 month after the successful drawdown date of the loan.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of their relative standalone prices.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

- the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; and
- any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

- the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; and
- the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK\$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

(h) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under "Other income and other net gain".

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme") and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees' relevant income, with the employers' contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK\$30,000. The Group's contributions to the scheme are expensed as incurred are vested in accordance with the scheme's vesting scales. Where employees leave the scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer's contributions, the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the contributions payable by the Group.

The employees employed by the Group's subsidiaries in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specific percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes operated by the government of the PRC is to make the specified contributions under the schemes.

(i) Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities' carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k) Share based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share options granted to supplier/customers

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as expenses.

(I) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 'loss before taxation' as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(I) Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the plant and equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

(n) Impairment on plant and equipment and rights-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n) Impairment on plant and equipment and rights-of-use assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or group of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(o) Inventories

Inventories representing finished goods for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 *Business Combinations* applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

- it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or
- on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
- it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the "other income" line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade receivables, loan receivables, deposits, other receivables, amount due from a former subsidiary and cash and cash equivalents which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the end of reporting period as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant financing component. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant balances and collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of each reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument's external (if available) or internal credit rating;
- significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread;
- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations;
- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and
- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its debt obligations.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the end of the reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of "investment grade" as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than one year past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

- (a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
- (b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
- (c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
- (d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
- (e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs sooner.

Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

- Nature of financial instruments;
- Past-due status;
- Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
- External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables, other payables and accruals) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, is recognised in profit or loss.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at bank or at financial institution and on hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent consist of bank balances and cash as defined above.

(r) Borrowings costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.



For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

(t) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

(u) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

- (i) A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Group if that person:
 - (1) has control or joint control over the Group;
 - (2) has significant influence over the Group; or
 - (3) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or a parent of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u) Related parties (continued)

- (ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:
 - (1) the entity and the Group are the members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);
 - (2) one entity is an associate or joint venture of another entity (or of an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member);
 - (3) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
 - (4) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
 - (5) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;
 - (6) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i);
 - (7) a person is identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of the parent of the entity); or
 - (8) the entity, or any member of the Group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close family members of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Group and a related party regardless of whether a price is charged.

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group's most senior executive management for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the directors are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)

The Group is considered as an agent for its contracts with customers relating to the commission income from financial services. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group recognises a commission revenue in the amount it expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had not recognise revenue relating to financial services income (2020: HK\$2,316,000).

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in sourcing of garment products. The Group concluded that the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as it controls the specified goods before it is transferred to the customer after taking into consideration indicators such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the garment products. The Group has inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group recognises sourcing income in the gross amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised revenue relating to sourcing of garment products amounted to approximately HK\$116,938,000 (2020: HK\$119,216,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Accounting for companies governed under contractual arrangements as subsidiaries

The Group do not hold any equity interests in $\hbar M \mp 2 \bar{a}$. Nevertheless, under the contractual agreements entered into between the Group and the shareholders who are the registered owners of $\hbar M \mp 2 \bar{a}$, the directors determine that the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of those subsidiaries so as to obtain benefits from their activities. As such, those subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group for accounting purposes.

The Group's revenue generated from 杭州華之嬴 which are controlled by the Group through the contractual agreements described above amounted to approximately HK\$2,316,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Estimated impairment of financial assets at amortised cost

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumption about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group use judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

5. REVENUE

Disaggregation of the Group's revenue from contracts with customers for the year by major products or service line and reconciliation of total revenue is as follows:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Revenue from sourcing of garment products Financial service income	116,938 -	119,216 2,316
Revenue from contracts with customers Interest income from loan receivables	116,938 3,119	121,532 565
Total revenue	120,057	122,097

All of the revenue from contracts with customers is recognised at a point in time for both years.

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance obligation for contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its contract for sourcing of garment products and financial services such that the Group does not disclose information about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under the contract for sourcing of garment products and financial services that had an original expected duration of one year or less.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the directors (chief operating decision maker (the "CODM")) for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

- garment sourcing
- provision of financial service

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units that operate different activities. They are managed separately because each business has different market and requires different marketing strategies.

Segment revenues reported below represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales for both years.

Segment result represents the loss incurred by each segment without allocation of corporate income and central administration expenses including directors' emoluments, equity-settled share-based payment expense and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

	Garment sourcing HK\$'000	Provision of financial service HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Revenue	116,938	3,119	120,057
Segment results	(2,327)	(1,154)	(3,481)
Unallocated other income Unallocated administrative and other			5,755
expenses Finance costs			(3,206) (28)
Loss before taxation			(960)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. **SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)**

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

	Garment sourcing HK\$'000	Provision of financial service HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Revenue	119,216	2,881	122,097
Segment results	(6,574)	(937)	(7,511)
Unallocated other income			5,050
Unallocated administrative and other expenses Finance costs		_	(21,397) (51)
Loss before taxation			(23,909)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by reportable segments:

As at 31 March 2021

	Garment sourcing HK\$'000	Provision of financial service HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Segment assets Unallocated corporate assets	43,724	46,234	89,958 36,704
Consolidated assets			126,662
Segment liabilities Unallocated corporate liabilities	14,632	1,060	15,692 2,705
Consolidated liabilities			18,397

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

As at 31 March 2020

	Garment sourcing HK\$'000	Provision of financial service HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Segment assets Unallocated corporate assets	80,138	-	80,138 31,598
Consolidated assets			111,736
Segment liabilities Unallocated corporate liabilities	14,165	_	14,165 2,916
Consolidated liabilities			17,081

For the purpose of monitoring resource allocation and assessment of segment performance:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated corporate assets (mainly comprising of certain plant and equipment, certain right-of-use assets, financial asset at FVTPL, amount due from a former subsidiary, certain deposits, prepayment and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents); and
- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than unallocated corporate liabilities (mainly comprising certain accruals and other payables, certain tax payables and lease liabilities).

Geographical information

The Group's revenue from external customers is mainly derived from its operations in Hong Kong. Information about the Group's non-current assets is presented based on:

	Non-current assets 2021 2020 HK\$'000 HK\$'000		
The People's Republic of China (the "PRC") Hong Kong	11,944 1,284	24,134 1,018	
	13,228	25,152	

Note: Non-current assets excluded amount due from a former subsidiary and loan receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. **SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)**

Other segment information

	Garment 2021	sourcing 2020		ision ial service 2020	Unallo 2021	ocated 2020	Conso	lidated 2020
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Annual Collaboration of								
Amounts included in the measure of								
segment results or segment assets:								
Depreciation of plant and equipment	1,045	212	-	128	75	99	1,120	439
Depreciation of right-of-use assets	1,365	341	-	-	599	482	1,964	823
(Reversal of)/allowance for expected credit								
loss, net	_	114	657	(145)	(3,821)	4,149	(3,164)	4,118
(Gain)/loss on disposal of plant and				,	, , ,		, , ,	
equipment	(1,219)	_	_	_	7	447	(1,212)	447
Additions to non-current assets (note)	-	24,650	_	63	1,066	1.014	1,066	25,727
Amounts regularly provided to the		,			-,	.,	-,	,
CODM but not included in the measure								
of segment results or segment assets:								
-	(4)	4		4	(4)	100	(E)	101
Bank interest income	(4)		-	4	(1)	189	(5)	194
Finance costs	-	-	-	-	28	51	28	51

Note: Non-current assets excluded amount due from a former subsidiary and loan receivables.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing to over 10% of the Group's total revenue are as follows:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Sourcing of garment products: Customer A Customer B Customer C	- 22,989 93,949	39,560 55,002 22,653

Except disclosed above, no other customer contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for both years.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAIN

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Bank interest income	5	194
Government grant (Note)	324	_
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries	_	4,608
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment	1,212	_
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL	313	143
Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL	1,143	_
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets	(137)	_
	2,860	4,945

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recognised government grants of HK\$324,000 in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.

8. FINANCE COSTS

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Interest expenses on lease liabilities	28	51

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Hong Kong Profits Tax		
- Current year	_	93
- Under-provision in prior years	3,000	_
	3,000	93

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK\$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK\$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The directors considered the amount involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong resulted in estimated tax losses for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the "EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as the Group has no assessable profit arising in PRC.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Loss before taxation	(960)	(23,909)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating	(158)	(3,945)
in other jurisdictions Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose	(122) 361	(862) 3,636
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose Tax effect of tax losses not recognised	(656) 575	(870) 2,455
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised Under-provision in prior years	3,000	(321)
Income tax expenses for the year	3,000	93

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately HK\$55,258,000 (2020: HK\$51,773,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):		
 a) Staff costs (include directors' remuneration) – salaries and wages – retirement benefit scheme contributions – staff welfare – equity-settled share-based payment expense Total staff costs 	4,393 103 19 223 4,738	13,255 421 15 260 13,951
b) Other Items Auditor's remuneration	500	500
- audit services	530	530
Cost of inventories sold Depreciation of plant and equipment	114,754 1,120	116,590 439
Depreciation of plant and equipment Depreciation of right-of-use assets	1,964	823
(Gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment (Reversal of)/allowance for expected credit losses on:	(1,212)	447
- trade receivables	_	397
- Ioan receivables	657	(175)
other receivables	126	(253)
 amount due from a former subsidiary 	(3,947)	4,149
	(3,164)	4,118
Equity-settled share-based payment expense to customers/supplier	595	596

For the year ended 31 March 2021

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 6 (2020: 8) directors and the chief executive officer were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

	Directors' fee HK\$'000	Discretionary bonus HK\$'000	Share- based payment HK\$'000	Retirement benefit scheme contributions HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS Lam Kai Yeung (Chief Executive Officer) Situ Shilun Zhi Hua (resigned on 31 July 2020)	1,696 360 -	- - -	223 - -	18 - -	1,937 360 -
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS Chau On Ta Yuen (resigned on 12 April 2021) Lam Lee G. Chan Kin	144 144 122	- - -	-	-	144 144 122
Total	2,466	_	223	18	2,707

Mr. Chau Chi Yan Benny was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 12 April 2021.

For the year ended 31 March 2020

	Directors' fee HK\$'000	Discretionary bonus HK\$'000	Share- based payment HK\$'000	Retirement benefit scheme contributions HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS					
Zhi Hua (Chairman)	19	7,350	_	1	7,370
Lam Kai Yeung (Chief Executive Officer)	1,857	- ,,,,,,	223	18	2,098
Situ Shilun (appointed on 24 December	,				,
2019)	97	-	-	-	97
Ma Jun (resigned on 24 December 2019)	-	-	31	-	31
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS					
Chau On Ta Yuen	144	_	-	-	144
Lam Lee G.	144	-	-		144
Chan Kin (re-designated from non-executive director on 25 February					
2019)	120	_	_		120
Li Hui (resigned on 31 July 2019)	48	-		- 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	48
Total	2,429	7,350	254	19	10,052

For the year ended 31 March 2021

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors or chief executive as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors or chief executive waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in both years.

Except for disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021, two (2020: two) of them are directors whose emoluments are included in note 11.

The remuneration of the remaining three (2020: three) individuals for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Salaries and allowances Retirement benefit schemes contributions	1,325 54	1,119 49
	1,379	1,168

The emoluments of each of the above individuals did not exceed HK\$1,000,000 for both years.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

13. DIVIDEND

No final/interim dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 March 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020: Nil).

14. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Loss		
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company for the purpose of basic		
and diluted loss per share	(3,960)	(24,002)
	2004	0000
	2021 '000	2020 '000
		7.171
Number of shares Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic and		7.171

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of the Company's share options because the exercise price of those share options was higher than the average market price for shares for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

	Furniture, fixtures and equipment HK\$'000	Leasehold improvements HK\$'000	Plant and machinery HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
Cost:				
As at 1 April 2019 Additions	2,551 -	8,023 -	717 11,063	11,291 11,063
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 26) Disposal Exchange alignment	(119) (2,376) (8)	(5,644) (2,214) (165)	(509) - (13)	(6,272) (4,590) (186)
	(-)	(1	(- /	(/
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 Additions Disposal	48 27 (21)	_ 1,039 _	11,258 - (11,258)	11,306 1,066 (11,279)
As at 31 March 2021	54	1,039	_	1,093
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: As at 1 April 2019 Charge for the year Eliminated upon disposal of subsidiaries (Note 26) Written off on disposal	2,423 48 (69) (2,376)	, ,	414 223 (200)	4,710 439 (535) (4,143)
Exchange alignment	(2,570)	(8)	(5)	(15)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 Charge for the year Written off on disposal	24 9 (14)	- 66 -	432 1,045 (1,477)	456 1,120 (1,491)
As at 31 March 2021	19	66	_	85
Carrying amounts: As at 31 March 2021	35	973	-	1,008
As at 31 March 2020	24	-	10,826	10,850

For the year ended 31 March 2021

15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of plant and equipment were depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

15% - 25%

Leasehold improvements

Over 5 to 10 years or the term of the relevant

leases, if shorter

Plant and machinery 10% – 20%

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

	Motor vehicle HK\$'000	Leased properties HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
	404		404
Carrying amounts as at 1 April 2019	461	_	461
Additions	_	15,014	15,014
Lease modification	_	(350)	(350)
Depreciation charge for the year	(92)	(731)	(823)
Carrying amounts as at 31 March 2020			
and 1 April 2020	369	13,933	14,302
Disposal	_	(118)	(118)
Depreciation charge for the year	(92)	(1,872)	(1,964)
Carrying amounts as at 31 March 2021	277	11,943	12,220

	Year ended 31 March 2021 HK\$'000	Year ended 31 March 2020 HK\$'000
Expenses relating to short-term lease Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets Total cash outflow for leases	640 - 1,448	768 12 15,317

The Group leases various office, factory and motor vehicle for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term ranging from 2 years to 10 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Lease liabilities of HK\$113,000 (2020: HK\$242,000) are recognised with motor vehicle of HK\$277,000 (2020: HK\$369,000) as at 31 March 2021. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in motor vehicle that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group entered into a short-term lease for office during the year ended 31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the outstanding lease commitments relating to the office is HK\$320,000.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Trade receivables from contract with customers (Note (a)) Less: Allowance for credit losses	11,838 -	54,118
	11,838	54,118
Other receivables, net (Notes (b) and (e)) Amount due from a former subsidiary, net (Note (c))	4 7,769	354 3,972
Receivables from disposal of plant and equipment (Note (d)) Interest receivables	9,900 281	_
Prepayments Deposits (Note (e))	29,792 - 255	58,444 79 308
	30,047	58,831
Represented by: Non-current Current	30,047	3,972 54,859
	30,047	58,831

For the year ended 31 March 2021

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(a) Trade receivables from contract with customers

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group's trade receivables from contract with customers denominated in United States Dollar ("US\$").

As at 1 April 2019, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted to HK\$4,648,000.

The Group normally grants credit terms to its customers ranging from 30 to 150 days. The aging analysis of the trade receivables from contract with customers (net of allowance for credit losses) based on invoice date which approximates the respective revenue recognition dates were as follows:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
0 - 30 days 31 - 60 days 61 - 90 days	11,838 - -	23,871 14,433 15,814
	11,838	54,118

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) that has been recognised under the simplified approach:

	Lifetime ECL (not credit- impaired) HK\$'000
As at 1 April 2019 Impairment loss recognised Disposal of subsidiaries Exchange alignment	128 397 (488) (37)
As at 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021	_

The trade receivables from contract with customers were fully settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period. Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 30.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(b) The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of other receivables under general approach is as follow:

	12m ECL HK\$'000	Life time ECL (credited- impaired) HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
As at 1 April 2019	262	-	262
Reversal of allowance recognised	(253)	-	(253)
Exchange alignment	(9)	_	9
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020	-	-	-
Allowance recognised	_	126	126
Bad debt written off	_	(126)	(126)
As at 31 March 2021	_	_	-

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 30.

(c) Amount due to a former subsidiary

Amount due from a former subsidiary with the amount of approximately HK\$8,013,000 (2020: HK\$8,163,000) is interest-free and secured by the equity securities listed in Canada which ultimately controlled by the shareholder of former subsidiary.

On 30 September 2019, the Group entered into an extension agreement to extend the repayment date to 30 September 2021. Except for the extension of repayment date, other terms remain unchanged.

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of amount due from a former subsidiary under general approach is as follow:

	12m ECL HK\$'000
As at 1 April 2019	42
Impairment loss recognised	4,149
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020	4,191
Reversal of allowance recognised	(3,947)
As at 31 March 2021	244

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 30.

- (d) The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amount was fully settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
- (e) As at 31 March 2021, neither other receivables nor deposits denominated in RMB (2020: HK\$148,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2021

18. LOAN RECEIVABLES

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Loan receivables Less: Allowance for credit losses	45,000 (657)	
	44,343	_

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had loan receivables as follows:

- (i) Loan to a private company incorporated in Hong Kong, which is an independent third party with a principal amount of HK\$25,000,000. The loan is unsecured, interest-bearing at 10% per annum, repayable in May 2023 and, guaranteed by an independent third party.
- (ii) Loan to an individual, who is an independent third party with a principal amount of HK\$20,000,000. The loan is unsecured, interest-bearing at 10% per annum and repayable in October 2022.

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance of loan receivables under general approach is as follow:

12m ECL HK\$'000	Lifetime ECL (credit- impaired) HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
409 - (240) (144) - (12)	- 65 - 144 (209)	409 65 (240) – (209)
(13)		(12) (13)
657		657
	HK\$'000 409 - (240) (144) - (12) (13)	ECL (credit- 12m ECL impaired) HK\$'000 409 65 (240) (144) 144 (209) (12) (13) 657

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 30.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

19. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Bond listed outside Hong Kong held for trading Securities listed in Hong Kong held for trading	8,011 15,790	6,017
	23,801	6,017

At the end of the reporting period, all financial asset at FVTPL are stated at fair value. Fair values of listed bonds are determined with reference to quoted market closing price.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's financial asset at FVTPL denominated in US\$ amounted to HK\$8,011,000 (2020: HK\$6,017,000).

Debt instrument with fixed interest of 11% (2020: 11.5%) and maturity on 6 August 2022 (2020: maturity 8 December 2020) listed on Singapore Exchange Limited.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and deposits place on financial institution carry interest at floating rates and placed with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's cash and cash equivalents denominated in US\$ and RMB are approximately HK\$10,027,000 (2020: HK\$3,716,000) and HK\$1,305,000 (2020: HK\$1,432,000) respectively.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by the government of the PRC. The Group's cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB which located in Hong Kong are not subject to the foreign exchange control.

The Group performed impairment assessment on cash and cash equivalents and concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty banks are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is provided for both years.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Trade payables (Note (a)) Accruals and other payables Interest in advance (Note (b))	11,606 1,426 1,052	14,151 837 –
	14,084	14,988

As at 31 March 2021, accrual and other payables with the amounts of approximately HK\$19,000 (2020: HK\$13,000) was denominated in RMB.

a) Trade payables

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
0 - 60 days	11,606	14,151
	11,606	14,151

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days (2020: 30 days).

b) Interest in advance

Interest in advance represents loan interest received in advance from a borrower.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

22. LEASE LIABILITIES

	Minimum lease payments		Present value of minimum lease payments		
	2021 HK\$'000			2020 HK\$'000	
Lease liabilities payable Within one year In the second to fifth year, inclusive	115 -	681 242	113	654 239	
Less: future finance costs	115 (2)	923 (30)	113 -	893 -	
Present value of lease liabilities	113	893	113	893	
Less: amount due for settlement within one year			(113)	(654)	
Amount due for settlement after one year shown under non-current liabilities			-	239	

The lease liabilities are denominated in HK\$.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 2.25% to 5% (2020: 2.25% to 5%).

For the year ended 31 March 2021

23. SHARE CAPITAL

	Number of shares '000	Amount '000
Ordinary shares of HK\$0.01 each		
Authorised At the beginning/the end of the reporting period	10,000,000	100,000
Issued and fully paid		
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020	655,927	6,559
Issue of shares under placing (Note)	130,000	1,300
As at 31 March 2021	785,927	7,859

Note: On 22 February 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a placing agent whereby the Company conditionally agreed to place through the placing agent, on a best endeavour basis, up to 130,000,000 new shares, to not less than six placees at a price of HK\$0.131 per placing share. The placing was completed on 4 March 2021. A total of 130,000,000 placing shares have been placed to not less than six independent placees at the placing price of HK\$0.131 per placing share. The net proceeds from the placing after deducting relevant expenses of HK\$386,000. The net proceeds of HK\$16,645,000 from placing shares would be used for the development of its existing garment sourcing business, the provision of financial services business and general working capital.

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

24. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution plan and the assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant costs to the scheme, which contribution is matched by employees, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK\$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately and there were no forfeited contributions of the MPF Scheme during both years.

The employees of the Group's subsidiary in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a specific percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes operated by the government of the PRC is made the specified contributions under the schemes. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were no forfeited contributions available to offset future employers' contributions to the scheme.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of approximately HK\$103,000 (2020: approximately HK\$421,000) represent contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans during the year ended 31 March 2021.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Share Option Scheme of the Company

Pursuant to a written resolution passed on 2 June 2010, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme"). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to eligible participants including employees, directors and other selected participants for their contributions to the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years from the date of its adoption (i.e. 2 June 2010).

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue on the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Such 10% limit may be refreshed, subject to specific approval by the shareholders of the Company, from time to time with reference to the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. Subject to specific approval by the shareholders of the Company, the total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days from the date of grant. Options may, subject to the black-out periods under the *Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers* contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, generally be exercised at any time from the date of grant to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant. In each grant of options, the Board may at its discretion determine the specific exercise period and exercise price. The exercise price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the average closing price of shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must be made with a non-refundable payment of HK\$1 from the grantee to the Company.

The options are conditionally vested upon the grantees fulfilling certain non-market performance vesting conditions. As detailed in the supplementary agreements with the share option holders, the share option is exercisable at any time from the date of grant to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant after one of the conditions is fulfilled: (1) the share option holder completing 10 years of service from the offer date of the share options or (2) the Group's accumulative profit meeting a target of HK\$80M (profit before deducting non-cash expense or cost) during the 10 years from the offer date of the share options.

On 28 September 2018, the limit of number of ordinary shares of the Company which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted was refreshed to 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 21 August 2018.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

25. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Share Option Scheme of the Company (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the number of shares in respect of which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted and remain outstanding under the Option Scheme was 20,768,000 (2020: 20,768,000), representing 2.64% (2020: 3.17%) of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share options during the current year:

				Numb	er of share op	tions Outstanding as at
Name of Grantee	Date of grant	Exercise Price (HK\$)	Vesting period dd/mm/yyyy	Outstanding as at 01.04.2019	Lapsed during the year	31.3.2020, 01.04.2020 and 31.03.2021
Directors						
Mr. Lam Kai Yeung	16/01/2018	0.854	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	5,192,000	-	5,192,000
Mr. Ma Jun	16/01/2018	0.854	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	1,000,000	(1,000,000)	-
Employee (other than directors) in aggregate	16/01/2018	0.854	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	300,000	(300,000)	-
Other participants in aggregate	16/01/2018	0.854	16/01/2018- 15/01/2028	15,576,000	-	15,576,000
				22,068,000		20,768,000
Weighted average exercise price				0.854		0.854

No share option was granted, exercised, expired, forfeited or cancelled during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

26. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 22 May 2019, the Group completed to dispose the interest in 杭州華之嬴 which principally engaged in P2P financing business at total consideration of RMB6,540,000 (equivalent to HK\$7,432,000). The net assets of 杭州華之嬴, at the date of disposal were as follow:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

	HK\$'000
Plant and equipment (Note 15)	5,687
Goodwill	1,606
Prepayment and other receivables	811
Tax recoverable	9
Cash and cash equivalents	423
Other payables and accruals	(1,538)
Net assets disposed of	6,998

Gain on disposal of 杭州華之嬴:

	HK\$'000
Cash consideration received Net assets disposed of	7,432 (6,998)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve upon disposal of a subsidiary	88
Gain on disposal of 杭州華之嬴	522

Net cash inflow arising on disposal of 杭州華之嬴:

	HK\$'000
Cash consideration received Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of	7,432 (423)
Net cash inflow	7,009

For the year ended 31 March 2021

26. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Aggregate disposal of subsidiaries with immaterial consideration

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group disposed entire equity interests in Champion Success International Limited, Hua Long Investment International Limited and Guozan International Limited and their respective subsidiaries and Victory Finance Holdings Limited ("Victory Finance") and a sale loan due by Victory Finance (collectively referred to as the "Disposal Group") with the consideration of US\$1 of each of the disposal. The aggregate disposal of the Disposal Group (other than Victory Finance) was completed in March 2020 while Victory Finance was completed in October 2019. The net liabilities of the Disposal Group, at the date of disposal were as follow:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

	HK\$'000
Plant and equipment (Note 15)	50
Inventories	475
Trade receivables	3,949
Short-term loan and loan interest receivables	2,378
Prepayment and other receivables	1,846
Prepaid tax	27
Cash and cash equivalents	904
Trade payables	(5,204)
Other payables, accruals and contract liabilities	(2,197)
Tax payables	(139)
Amounts due to the group companies	(7,764)
Amount due to the Company by Victory Finance	(18)
Net liabilities disposed of	(5,693)

Gain on disposal of the Disposal Group:

		HK\$'000
Cash consideration receive	ed	_
Net liabilities disposed of		5,693
Release of foreign currenc	y translation reserve upon disposal of	
subsidiaries	'	(1,589)
Amount due to the Compa	ny assigned to the purchaser of Victory	() ,
	any addigited to the parenager of victory	(18)
1 II lai ice		(10)
Gain on disposal of the	Disposal Group	4,086
Finance		,

Net cash outflow arising on disposal of the Disposal Group:

	HK\$'000
Cash consideration received Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of	- (904)
Net cash outflow	(904)

For the year ended 31 March 2021

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

The following is the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and 2020:

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Investments in subsidiaries Plant and equipment Right-of-use assets Amount due from a former subsidiary	1 1,008 277 –	1 24 993 3,972
	1,286	4,990
CURRENT ASSETS Deposits and other receivable Amounts due from subsidiaries Amount due from a former subsidiary Cash and cash equivalents	259 42,892 7,769 2,189	312 67,822 - 312
	53,109	68,446
CURRENT LIABILITIES Accruals Tax payables Lease liabilities	1,384 1,200 113	823 1,200 654
	2,697	2,677
NET CURRENT ASSETS	50,412	65,769
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES	51,698	70,759
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Lease liabilities	_	239
	-	239
NET ASSETS	51,698	70,520
CAPITAL AND RESERVES Share capital Reserves (Note)	7,859 43,839	6,559 63,961
TOTAL EQUITY	51,698	70,520

Signed on its behalf by:

Lam Kai Yeung
Director

Situ Shilun Director



For the year ended 31 March 2021

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note: Reserves of the Company

	Share premium HK\$'000	Contributed surplus HK\$'000 (Note (i))	Share option reserve HK\$'000 (Note (ii))	Accumulated losses HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
As at 1 April 2019	101,350	125,518	1,058	(135,231)	92,695
Loss and total comprehensive					
expenses for the year	-	-	-	(29,590)	(29,590)
Recognition of equity-settled					
share-based payments	-	-	856	-	856
Lapsed of share option	-	_	(103)	103	
As at 31 March 2020 and					
1 April 2020	101,350	125,518	1,811	(164,718)	63,961
Loss and total comprehensive	101,000	120,010	1,011	(101,110)	00,001
expenses for the year	_	_	_	(36,285)	(36,285)
Recognition of equity-settled				(==,===)	(00,00)
share-based payments	_	_	818	_	818
Issue of new shares upon placing,					
net	15,345		_		15,345
As at 31 March 2021	116,695	125,518	2,629	(201,003)	43,839

Note:

⁽i) The contributed surplus represents the reserve arising from a previous group reorganisation.

⁽ii) Share option reserve represents the fair value of services estimated to be received in exchange for the grant of the relevant share options over the relevant vesting periods, the total of which is based on the fair value of the share options at grant date. The amount for each period is determined by spreading the fair value of the share options over the relevant vesting period (if any) and is recognised in other operating expenses with a corresponding increase in the share option reserve.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the following material transactions with related parties:

(i) Compensation of key management personnel

The emoluments of the directors and the employees included in the five highest paid individuals who are identified as members of key management of the Group during both years are set out in note 11.

The remuneration of the directors and key management personnel is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

(ii) Rental of office premise from a substantial shareholder

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Rental deposits paid	240	-
Rental expenses paid	640	-

On 1 August 2020, the Company and High Profit Group Holdings Limited ("High Profit"), a company ultimately controlled by a substantial shareholder of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement ("Tenancy Agreement I") for a leasing period of one year at an aggregate rent of HK\$ 960,000 commencing from 1 August 2020. The Tenancy Agreement I was considered as an exempted connected transaction pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(iii) Lease of right-of-use asset from a substantial shareholder

On 15 November 2019, Putian Jingaofeng Garment Co. Ltd.* (莆田金高峰服飾有限公司) ("Putian Jingaofeng"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Good Fellow Garment (Fujian) Co., Ltd.* (金威服裝(福建)有限公司) ("Good Fellow"), a company of which a substantial shareholder of the Company is the ultimate beneficiary, entered into a tenancy agreement ("Tenancy Agreement II") for a leasing period of 10 years at an aggregate rent of HK\$14 million commencing from the 9 January 2020, which is the date of resolution has been passed by the independent shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting. The premises of Tenancy Agreement II will be used by Putian Jingaofeng for manufacturing and sales of garment products. The Tenancy Agreement II was also considered as a connected transaction pursuant Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(iv) Acquisition of pant and machinery from a substantial shareholder

On 15 November 2019, Putian Jingaofeng and Good Fellow entered into an acquisition agreement ("Acquisition Agreement") for the manufacturing machinery and equipment and office equipment owned by Good Fellow at a total consideration of HK\$11 million. The Acquisition Agreement was also considered as a connected transaction pursuant Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

^{*} for identification purpose only



For the year ended 31 March 2021

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes lease liabilities and obligation under finance lease, net of cash and cash equivalents and total equity.

The directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, issue of new shares, and redemption of existing shares as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
Financial assets		
Financial asset at FVTPL	23,801	6,017
Amortised cost - Trade and other receivables	30,047	58,752
Loan receivablesCash and cash equivalents	44,343 15,243	21,736
Cubit and Gusti equivalence		21,100
	113,434	86,505
Financial liabilities		
Amortised cost - Trade and other payables	14,084	14,988

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, loan receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from former subsidiaries, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, other payable and accruals. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong Kong and the PRC and majority of transactions are denominated in HK\$, US\$ and RMB. Currency risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the Group.

The Group is not exposed to material currency risk exposure in respect of HK\$ against US\$ as long as this currency is pegged. Therefore, US\$ are excluded from the analysis below.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the Group's net monetary assets denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as follows:

	Net monetary assets	
	2021 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000
RMB	1,287	148

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency. The management will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an decrease/increase in pre-tax loss where the functional currency of the group entities strengthen 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of the functional currency of the group entities against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the pre-tax loss for the year.

	Increase/	2021	2020
	(decrease)	Effect on	Effect on
	in foreign	loss before	loss before
	exchange	taxation	taxation
	rate	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
RMB	5%	64	7
	(5%)	(64)	(7)

Management considered the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign currency risk as the exposure at the end of each reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed rate loan receivables and lease liabilities (Note 22 for details). The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary action when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-rate bank balances (Note 20). The exposure to the interest rate risk for variable rate bank balances is insignificant as the bank balances have a short maturity period.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, loan receivables, other receivables, amount due from a former subsidiary and cash and cash equivalents. The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arising from the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. Except for amount due from a former subsidiary is secured by the equity securities listed in Canada ultimately controlled by the shareholder of former subsidiary, the Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group deposited cash and cash equivalents with approved and reputable banks and financial institution. Bankruptcy or insolvency of the banks and financial institution may cause the Group's right with respect to cash and cash equivalents held to be delayed or limited. The directors monitor the credit rating of these banks and financial institution on an ongoing basis, and consider that the Group's exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were minimal.

For other receivables, the directors make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The directors believe that there is no significant increase in credit risk of the Group's outstanding balances of other receivables since initial recognition and the Group provide impairment based on 12m ECL. Based on the assessment, impairment on other receivables with an amount of HK\$126,000 (2020: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2021.

For amount due from a former subsidiary, the directors make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of amount due from a former subsidiary, based on historical settlement records, past experience, the fair value of collateral and also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. The directors believe that there is no significant increase in credit risk of the Group's outstanding balances of amount due from a former subsidiary since initial recognition and the Group provide impairment based on 12m ECL. Based on the assessment, reversal of impairment of amount due from a former subsidiary with the amount of approximately HK\$3,947,000 (2020: impairment of HK\$4,149,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has certain concentration of credit risk as 100% (2020: 49%) and 100% (2020: 100%) of the trade receivables of the Group were due from the Group's largest customers and five largest customers. Management of the Company considered the credit risk is limited since the Group only trade with customers with an appropriate credit history and good reputation. The management monitored the financial background and creditability of those debtors on an ongoing basis.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group's policy to manage credit risk is to deal only with credit worthy counterparties. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has formulated a credit policy and, delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is take.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade receivables with significant balances based and credit-impaired individually and/or collectively. Except for items that are subject to individual evaluation, which are assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are grouped based on aging of outstanding balances. Impairment of HK\$126,000 is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses debtors' aging to assess the impairment for its customers because these customers with common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers' abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms and there is no history of default in settlement by them. The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix.

As at 31 March 2021

	Expected loss rate %	Gross carrying amount HK\$'000	Loss allowance HK\$'000
Current (not past due)	_	11,838	_

As at 31 March 2020

	Expected loss rate %	Gross carrying amount HK\$'000	Loss allowance HK\$'000
Current (not past due)	-	54,118	_

The expected loss rate is estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had not recognised any impairment allowance for trade receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had concentration of credit risk as 55% and 100% of the loan receivables was due from the Group's largest loan and loan interest receivable and five largest loan receivables respectively which had no history of default.

In respect of loan receivables, individual credit evaluations are performed on all borrowers requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the borrowers' past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the borrowers.

Based on the assessment, impairment of loan receivables, with the amount of approximately HK\$657,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

	Effective interest rate	On demand or within 1 year HK\$'000	Within 2-5 years HK\$'000	Total undiscounted cash flows HK\$'000	Carrying amount HK\$'000
As at 31 March 2021					
Trade and other payables	_	14,084	_	14,084	14,084
Lease liabilities	2.25%-5.00%	115	_	115	113
		14,199	-	14,199	14,197
A					
As at 31 March 2020 Trade and other					
payables	-	14,988	-	14,988	14,988
Lease liabilities	2.25%-5.00%	681	242	923	893
		15,669	242	15,911	15,881

For the year ended 31 March 2021

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.

Fair value measurement

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using only level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;
- Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are input for which market data are not available; and
- Level 3 valuations: fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

	Level 1 HK\$'000	Level 2 HK\$'000	Level 3 HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
As at 31 March 2021 Fair value on a recurring basis				
Financial assets at FVTPL				
Bond listed outside Hong KongSecurities listed in Hong Kong	8,011	-	-	8,011
for trading	15,790	-	-	15,790
As at 31 March 2020 Fair value on a recurring basis				
Financial assets at FVTPL				
- Bond listed outside Hong Kong	6,017	_	_	6,017

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels at the end of the date of the events or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2, or transfers into or out of level 3.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

31. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below.

Name of subsidiary	Place/country of incorporation or establishment/ operation	Issued and fully paid share capital/ registered capital		ributable e held by th ectly 2020	ne Group	est ectly 2020	Principal activities
Champion Success Trading Limited	Hong Kong	Ordinary HK\$1	100	100	-	-	Garment sourcing
Putian Jingaofeng Garment Co. Ltd.* (莆田金高峰服飾有限公司) (note i)	PRC	Registered capital RMB5,000,000	-	-	100	100	Manufacturing and sales of garment products
Sino Insurance Broker Group Limited	Hong Kong	Ordinary HK\$1	-	-	100	100	Investment holding
Golden Maximum Finance Limited (金高峰財務有限公司)	Hong Kong	Ordinary HK\$1	-	-	100	100	Money lending
Jingaofeng Garment International Limited	BVI	US\$1	100	100	-	-	Garment sourcing
Jingaofeng Investment International Limited	BVI	US\$1	100	100	-	-	Investment holding
Jingaofeng International Limited	BVI	US\$1	100	100	_	-	Investment holding

^{*} for identification purpose only

Notes:

(i) Wholly foreign owned enterprises.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the reporting period.

All of the PRC subsidiaries are private companies with limited liabilities.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their respective place of incorporation/establishment.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

32. RECONCILIATION IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's statement of cash flow as cash flows from financing activities.

	Lease liabilities HK\$'000	Interest payables HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
As at 1 April 2010	265		265
As at 1 April 2019 Financing cash flows	365 (486)	(51)	365 (537)
Non-cash changes:	(400)	(51)	(557)
New lease entered	1.014	_	1,014
Finance costs recognised (Note 8)	-	51	51
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020	893	_	893
Financing cash flows	(780)	(28)	(808)
Non-cash changes:			
New lease entered			
Finance costs recognised (Note 8)		28	28
As at 31 March 2021	113	-	113

33. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group disposed plant and machinery with carrying amount of approximately HK\$9,781,000 to an independent third party with consideration of HK\$11,000,000, of which HK\$1,100,000 has been received during the year ended 31 March 2021 and HK\$9,900,000 receivable as at 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered into new lease agreements for the use of leased properties for 2 years. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised HK\$1,014,000 of right-of-use asset and HK\$1,014,000 lease liabilities.

34. LITIGATION

On 7 January 2020, the Company received two separate first-instance trial judgments dated 26 December 2019, from the Intermediate People's Court of Huzhou of Zhejiang Province (the "First Instance Judgments"). The First Instance Judgments were in relation to two loans taken by two individuals as the borrowers (the "Borrowers"), a financial institution as the lender (the "Lender") dated 25 May 2017 and 5 June 2017 with the principal of RMB12,000,000 and RMB38,000,000 respectively, and were both guaranteed by several parties, including but not limited to the Company and Mr. Gao Zhiyin ("Mr. Gao"), a former executive director and chairman of the board of the Company. The guarantees were entered into by Mr. Gao without the proper authorisation of the Company. Pursuant to the First Instance Judgments, it is ruled that, among others, (i) the Borrowers shall repay principal loan amount of the loans in the sum of RMB12,000,000 and RMB38,000,000 respectively, together with interests; and (ii) despite it is ruled that the guarantees involving the Company were invalid, the Company shall be liable for 50% of the liabilities under that the Borrowers fail to repay to the Lender and the Company is entitled to compensation from the Borrowers.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

34. LITIGATION (CONTINUED)

The Company and the Lender had made appeals to the First Instance Judgments. On 2 September 2020, the Company received two separate second-instance trial judgments in respect of the appeals against First Instance Judgments (the "Appeal Judgments") dated 24 August 2020 from the Higher People's Court of Zhejiang Province. Pursuant to the Appeal Judgments, the relevant appeals are dismissed, the rulings under the relevant First Instance Judgments shall stay and the Appeal Judgments shall be the final judgments for the respective cases.

The Company considered no provision is necessary after consulting an independent lawyer's opinion. As the First Instance Judgments and the Appeal Judgments were not registered in the Court of First Instance of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region according to the Mainland Judgments (Reciprocal Enforcement) Ordinance ("MJRE").

35. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to be consistent with the current period presentation.

36. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 June 2021.

Glossary

Abbreviation	Definition
2020 AGM	annual general meeting of the Company held on 31 July 2020
Audit Committee	audit committee of the Company established by the Board on 8 September 2010 with written terms of reference, as amended from time to time
Board	the board of Directors
Board Committees	Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
Bye-Law(s)	the bye-laws of the Company, as amended from time to time
Company	Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Corporate Governance Code	Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
Director(s)	the director(s) of the Company
Group	the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time
HK\$	Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
Listing Rules	the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
Model Code	Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
Nomination Committee	nomination committee of the Company established by the Board on 19 March 2012 with written terms of reference, as amended from time to time
PRC	The People's Republic of China
Remuneration Committee	remuneration committee of the Company established by the Board on 8 September 2010 with written terms of reference, as amended from time to time
SFO	the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
Share(s)	ordinary share(s) of HK\$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company
Share Options Scheme	share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 2 June 2010 which became effective upon the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on 5 October 2010.
Shareholder(s)	holder(s) of the Share(s) in issue
Stock Exchange	The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
US\$	United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
%	per cent.

Financial Summary

Results	2017 HK\$'000	Year (2018 HK\$'000	ended 31 Ma 2019 HK\$'000	2020	2021
	HK\$ 000	ПКФ 000	ПКФ 000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Revenue	80,992	184,829	185,668	122,097	120,057
(Loss)/profit before tax Income tax credit/(expense)	(11,443) –	8,001 (6)	1,140 (664)	(23,909) (93)	(960) (3,000)
(Loss)/profit for year attributable to owners of the Company	(11,443)	7,995	476	(24,002)	(3,960)
Company	(11,440)	7,990	470	(24,002)	(5,500)
Access And Lightlitics					
Assets And Liabilities		۸۵	at 31 March		
	2017 HK\$'000	2018 HK\$'000	2019 HK\$'000	2020 HK\$'000	2021 HK\$'000
Total assets Total liabilities	40,230 (34,350)	263,575 (145,775)	136,145 (19,600)	111,736 (17,081)	126,662 (18,397)
	5,880	117,800	116,545	94,655	108,265
Equity attributable to owners of the Company	5,880	117,800	116,545	94,655	108,265





Room 2101, 21/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong 香港干諾道中168-200號信德中心招商局大廈21樓2101室 www.hk01682.com